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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA SUPERSEDING
INDICTMENT

against -
Cr. No. 23:197 (5-1) US) (AYS)

GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER (T.18, USC. §§ 371, 641, 981 @)(1)(C).
SANTOS, 982(a)(1), 9R2@)(2)(B), 982(b)(1),

also known as “George Santos,” 1001(a)(2), 1001(e)(1), 1028AGa)(1)
1028A(b), 1028A(c)(4), 1028A(c)(S),

Defendant. 102965), 1029(e)(1)A)i), 1343,
1519, 1957(a), 1957(b),2and 3551 et
seq; T. 21, US.C., § 853p): T. 28,
US.C., § 2461(0))

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

INTRODUCTION TO ALL COUNTS

Atall times relevant to this Superseding Indictment, unless otherwise indicated:

I Relevant Individuals and Entities

1. The defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also

known as “George Santos,” wasa residentofQueens and Suffolk Counties. During the 2020

and 202 election cycles, DEVOLDER SANTOS campaigned as a candidate for the United

States HouseofRepresentatives (the “House”. On or about November 8, 2022, DEVOLDER

SANTOS was elected the United States Representative for New York's Third Congressional

District, which covered partsof Queens and Nassau Counties in the Eastern District ofNew

York. DEVOLDER SANTOS was sworn into office on or about January 7, 2023,

2. Devolder-Santos for Congress (the “Committee”) was the defendant

GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS's principal congressional campaign committee.



2

3. Nancy Marks was the treasurerof the Committee. Marks provided

additionalservicesto the Committee through a political consulting company that she operated

and which was located in Suffolk County, New York.

4. National Party Committee #1, an entity the identityofwhich is known to

the Grand Jury, was a national party committee headquartered in Washington, D.C. National

Party Committee #1 managed a program (the “Program”)pursuantto which National Party

Committee #1 provided financial and logistical support for congressional candidates who

qualified for the Program. The Program had three phases, each with ts own qualifying criteria

“To qualify for the second phaseof the Program, congressional candidates were required, among.

other things, to demonstrate that their campaign committee had raised at least $250,000 from

third-party contributors ina single quarter.

5. The Devolder Organization LLC was a Florida Limited Liability

Company (“LLC”) formed on or about May 11,2021, with is principal placeofbusiness in

Melbourne, Florida. The defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS was the sole

beneficial ownerofthe Devolder Organization LLC.

6. Company #1, an entity the identityofwhich is known to the Grand Jury,

was a Florida LLC formed on or about November 1, 2021, with its principal placeofbusiness in

Merritt Island, Florida. At the time of its organization, Company #1 had two authorized

‘managers, oneofwhich was the Devolder Organization LLC.

7. Person #1, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, was a

political consultant operating in Queens County and surrounding areas, including areas within

the Easter DistrictofNew York. In or about and between September 2022 and October 2022,



3

atthe directionofthe defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, Person #1 acted

on behalfofCompany #1.

8. Investment Firm #1, an entity the identityof which is known to the Grand

Jury, was a Nevada corporation with its principal place of business in Melbourne, Florida.

Investment Firm #1 was purportedly engaged in retail sales of securities products. In or about

and between January 2020 and March 31, 2021, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS was employed by Investment Firm #1 as a Regional Director. In that

capacity, DEVOLDER SANTOS received an annual salary of approximately $120,000, which

was deposited into a personal bark account maintained by DEVOLDER SANTOS (“Devolder

‘Santos Bank Account #1) in regular intervals beginning on or about February 3, 2020 and

continuing through on or about April 15, 2021

IL. Applicable Campaign Finance Laws

9. The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971,as amended, Title 52, United

States Code § 30101, et seq. (the “Election Act”) limited financial influence in the election of

candidates for federal office and provided for public disclosure of the financing of federal

election campaigns. The Federal Election Commission (“FEC”) was an agencyofthe United

States entrusted with the responsibilityofadministering and enforcing the Election Act. To

deter abuses and instill public confidence in the election process, the FEC was responsible for

receiving and making available to the public specific, accurate informationabout, among other

things, the amounts and sourcesofpolitical contributions to federal candidates and political

committees.

10. The Election Act prohibited a federal candidate or an agent ofa federal

candidate from soliciting,receiving,directing or transferring funds in connection witha federal
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election unless the funds weresubjectto the limitations, prohibitions and reporting requirements

ofthe Election Act.

11. The Election Act limited the amount and sourcesofmoney that could be

contributed toa federal candidate or a federal candidate's authorized campaign committee and

political committees established and maintained by a national political party. In particular,

while candidates for federal office were permitted to give or loan their own campaigns unlimited

sumsofmoney, for the 2022 election cycle, other individuals were limited to contributing $2,900

per primary election per candidate committee and $2,900 per general election per candidate

committee.

12. The Election Act prohibiteda person from making a political contribution

in the nameofanother person, including by giving funds 10.a “straw” or “conduit” contributor

for the purposeofhaving the straw donor or conduit pass the funds on t0 a federal candidateas

his or her own contribution. The Election Act expressly provided that contributions made

through an intermediary were treated as contributions from the original source. The Election

Act also prohibited a person from knowingly permitting his name to be used to effect such a

conduit contribution.

13. Pursuant to the Election Act, the FEC required authorized campaign

‘committees, such as the Committee,to file periodic reports of receipts and disbursements

identifying, among other things, each person or organization that made a contribution to such

committee during the relevant reporting period whose contributionor contributions had an

aggregate amount or value in excessof $200 within the election cycle, together with the date and

the amountofany such contribution. The Election Act and the FEC also required every person

or organization that was not political committee and that made independent expenditures in
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excessof$250 with respect 10a given election ina calendar year to report those expenditures, to

identify each person or organization who made a contribution in excessof $200 to further the

reported independent expenditures, and to certify under penaltyofperjury that the expenditure

was not made in cooperation, consultation or in concert with, or at the request or suggestion of, a

candidate,a candidate’s authorized committee or their agents. These periodic reports, which

were filed with the FEC for the FEC to make publicly available, were intended to provide the

public with a record ofall contributions to candidates for federal office in an effort to combat

quid pro quo corruption or the appearance ofquid pro quo corruption. As such, they constituted

the public’s primary window into the sources of funding for federal election campaigns.

14. An independent expenditure-only committee, or “Super PAC,” was a type.

ofpolitical committee that could accept unlimited contributions and make unlimited

expenditures independentofa candidate or campaign. Super PACs were prohibited from

making contributionsto candidates in the formof coordinated expenditures. Super PACs were

required to register with the FEC within 10 daysof receiving contributions or making

expenditures aggregating more than $1,000 during a calendar year.

Ill. The Defendant's Campaign-Related Fraudulent Schemes

15. During the 2022 election cycle, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS devised and executed at least three fraudulent schemes to obtain money.

forhimself and for the Committee by making various material misrepresentations and omissions.

to, among others, the FEC, National Party Committee #1, potential contributors o the

Committee and the public.

16. First in or about and between December 2021 and November 2022, the

defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS and Nancy Marks devised and
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excauted a scheme to submit materially false reports to the FEC on behalfofthe Commitee in

which they fraudulently inflated the Committee's fundraising numbers for the purpose of

misleading the FEC, National Party Committee #1 and the public. The purpose of the scheme

was to qualify DEVOLDER SANTOS for different phasesofthe Program and thereby receive

financial and logistical support from National Party Committee #1 (the “Party Program

Scheme”). As partof the Party Program Scheme, DEVOLDER SANTOS and Marks agreed to

falsely report to the FEC that family members of DEVOLDER SANTOS and Marks had made

significant financial contributions to the Committee, when DEVOLDER SANTOS and Marks

both knew that these individuals had not made the reported contributions. Further, as partof the

Party Program Scheme, DEVOLDER SANTOS and Marks agreed to falsely report to the FEC

that DEVOLDER SANTOS had loaned the Commitee significant sums of money, when

DEVOLDER SANTOS had not made the reported loans and, in fuct, did not have the funds

necessaryto make such loans atthe time.

17. Second, in or about and between December 2021 and August 2022, the

defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS devised and exceuted a fraudulent

scheme whereby he stole personal identity and financial information of individuals who had

contributed to the Commitee and used it to cause these individuals’ credit cards to be charged

repeatedly without authorization (the “Credit Card Fraud Scheme”). Through these

unauthorized transactions, DEVOLDER SANTOS transferred funds to the Committee, to the

campaigns ofother candidates for elected office and to his personal bank account. Further, for

the purposeofconcealing the true sourceof funds and circumventing campaign contribution

limits, DEVOLDER SANTOS falsely represented that the political contributions were made by

other individuals, such as DEVOLDER SANTOS’s relatives and associates.
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18. Third, in or about and between September and October 2022, the

defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS devised and executed a scheme to

defraud and to obiain money from supporters ofhis candidacy for the House by fraudulently

inducing them to contribute funds to Company #1 under the false pretense that the money would

be used to support DEVOLDER SANTOS's candidacy. In truth, DEVOLDER SANTOS spent

thousandsofdollars ofthe solicited funds on personal expenses, including luxury designer

clothing and credit card payments (the “Company #1 Fraud Scheme”). DEVOLDER SANTOS

personally and through Person #1 communicated false information about Company #1 to those:

supporters, including that Company #1was a Section S01(c)(4) social welfare organization or an

independent expenditure-only committee and that contributions made to Company #1 would be

used on independent expenditures in supportofDEVOLDER SANTOS’s candidacy during the

2022 election eyele. In actuality, Company #1 was neither a Section 501(c)(4) social welfare

organization nor an independent expenditure-only committe, and upon receiptofcontributions

by those supporters to Company #1, DEVOLDER SANTOS converted muchofthose funds to

his own personal benefit.

A. The Party Program Scheme

19. Throughout 2021, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER

SANTOS and Nancy Marks sought for the Committee to report fundraising totals sufficient to

meet the $250,000 threshold necessary to qualify for the second phase ofthe Program. For

example, on or about April 1, 2021, Marks emailed the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS and other agentsofthe Committee, stating, “Our goal is to go higher

cach quarterso as everyone is aware, it s to make [the Program.”
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20. For the third quarter of 2021, the Committee failed to qualify for the

Program due, in part, 0 ts failure 0 report $250,000 in contributions from third-party

contributors in the quarter.

21. Onorabout October 12, 2021, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS senta text message to agents of the Committee, including Nancy Marks,

asking an agent to “check in with” an employee of National Party Committee #1 to determine

why the Committee failed to qualify for the Program. An agentof the Committee responded to

DEVOLDER SANTOS that “the only driver that matters is raising $250K (not loans or

candidate contributions) in a single quarter,” and “(i]s really that simple though... S250K raised

from donorswithin a quarter. We havent done that yet and that should be our focus.”

DEVOLDER SANTOS replied, “We are going todo this a lite different. 1 got it.”

i. Fraudulent Year-End 2021 Report

22. In or about and between December 2021 and January 2022, the defendant

GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS and Nancy Marks conspired and agreed to

falsely inflate the Committee's fundraising totals, including, but not limited to, in public filings

with the FEC, in order to mislead the FEC, National Party Committee #1 and the public so that

DEVOLDER SANTOS would qualify for the Program and receive financial and logistical

support from National Party Committee #1

23. In furtheranceof that scheme to defraud, on or about December 18, 2021,

the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS texted Nancy Marks a lst of the

names of family members of DEVOLDER SANTOS and Marks, along with purported

contribution amounts for each corresponding family member, for Marks to enter into the Year-

End 2021 Report to the FEC for the purposeofensuring that the Committee appeared to reach
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the $250,000 threshold necessary to qualify for the second phaseof the Program. Contrary to

the representations made by DEVOLDER SANTOS, none ofthe family members of

DEVOLDER SANTOS and Marks had made, or ever did make, the listed contributions.

24. Specifically, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER

SANTOS's text message to Nancy Marks on or about December 18, 2021 falsely stated the.

following non-existent contributions to the Commiteee: (a) a $5,800 contribution from

Contributor#1, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury; (b)a $5,800

contribution from Contributor #2, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury; (c) a

$5,800 contribution from Contributor #3, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand

Jury: (d) a $5,800 contribution from Contributor #4, an individual whose identity is known to the

Grand Jury; (¢) a $5,800 contribution from Contributor #5, an individual whose identity is

Known to the Grand Jury; (f)a $5,800 contribution from Contributor #6, an individual whose

identity is known to the Grand Jury; (g)a $5,800 contribution from Contributor #7, an individual

whose identity is known to the Grand Jury; (h)a $5,800 contribution from Contributor #8, an

individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury: (i) a $5,800 contribution from Contributor

#9, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury; and(j)a $2,900 contribution from

Contributor #10, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury. DEVOLDER

SANTOS also texted Marks: “These are the donations we spoke about last night before we went

tosleep. Totalof $35,100. Lets talk Monday in person.”

25. On or about December 21, 2021, after Nancy Marks texted the defendant

GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS seeking the “listof donors — your family,”

DEVOLDER SANTOS again texted Marks the names and purported contribution amounts of

Contributor #1, Contributor #2, Contributor #3, Contributor #4, Contributor #5, Contributor #6,
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Contributor #7, Contributor #8, Contributor #9 and Contributor #10. This time, DEVOLDER

SANTOS also included addresses and occupations for his relatives — information that

DEVOLDER SANTOS knew would be required for the Year-End 2021 Report to the FEC.

“That same day, Marks emailedherself the content ofthis text message.

26. In or about January 2022, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS repeatedly texted Nancy Marks about ensuring that the Committee

reached the $250,000 threshold necessary to qualify for the second phaseofthe Program.

DEVOLDER SANTOS advised Marks that he “really would like to know the final numbers for

the quarter.” On or about January 31, 2022, DEVOLDER SANTOS asked Marks “whatdid we

figure out about the report,” and expressed that he was “lost and desperate.”

27. On or about January 31, 2022, the Committee submitted the Year-End

2021 Report to the FEC, with Nancy Marks certifying that she had “examined this Report and to

the best of my knowledge and belief it is true, correct and complete.” The Year-End 2021

Report to the FEC falsely reported the following contributions to the FEC:

[1ssa0 Tommi]

[3|sss00 linia
[41s000 Tian

55,800 12/1621
[61sss0  Tnisnif
[71sss0 limi]
[81ssso0 [mini]
[91 ssso0 [unm

1 3.900

28. The Year-End 2021 Report further falsely reported a contribution of

$2,900 from another family member of Nancy Marks, Contributor #11, an individual whose

identity is known to the Grand Jury. These falsely reported contributions contained in the Year-
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End 2021 Report to the FEC totaled $53,200, causing the Committee to falsely claim total

quarterly receipts of $251,549.68 and thereby surpass the $250,000 threshold necessary to

qualify for the second phaseofthe Program. The defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS and Marks knew that noneofthese reported contributions were true.

ii. The Defendant Qualifies for the Second Phaseof the Program

29. Following the submissionofthe fraudulent Year-End 2021 Report to the

FEC, on or about February 10, 2022, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER

SANTOS signed an application for the Program and caused it to be submitted to National Party

Committee #1. The application noted that candidates accepted into the Program would be

eligible for “additional campaign financial support,” such as “hybrid ads, coordinated

expenditures, focus groups, spliting the cost of polling, ete.” DEVOLDER SANTOS also

submitteda biography falsely asserting, among other things, that he had worked for several

prominent Wall Street financial institutions.

30. On or about February 23,2022, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS texted Nancy Marks, “1 GOT [THE PROGRAM]!"

31. Based, in part, on itsbelief that the Committee had exceeded the $250,000

quarterly fundraising benchmark as reported in the Year-End 2021 Report to the FEC, National

Party Committee #1 announced the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS as

acandidate in the second phaseofthe Program on or about February 25, 2022.

fii. Fraudulent April 2022 Quarterly Report

32. In or about and between March and April 2022, the defendant GEORGE

ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS and Nancy Marks continued their effortsto falsely inflate

the Committee's fundraising totals, including, but not limited to, in publi filings with the FEC,
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in order to mislead the FEC, National Party Committee #1, and the public so that DEVOLDER

SANTOS would qualify foral phasesof the Program and receive financial and logistical support

from National Party Committee #1. DEVOLDER SANTOS and Marks agreed to falsely

represent in presentations and communications with National Party Committee #1 and in a

quarterly submission to the FEC that DEVOLDER SANTOS had loaned the Committee

$500,000, when, in fact, he had not.

33. In approximately March 2022, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS continued to express concer with ensuring that the Committee reported

favorable fundraising totals in the first quarterof 2022. For example, on or about March 7,

2022, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS texted an associate, “I have

‘my back against the wall this quarter lol.”

34. Similarly, on or about March 15, 2022, the defendant GEORGE

ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS texted another associate about the importanceof the

Committee reporting substantial fundraising totals fo the purpose ofensuring he qualified for

the Program and would receive the expected financial support from National Party Committee

#1, stating: “I have a very important meeting at the endofthis week with [National Party

Committee #1]. This meeting will decide if they will invest in my race & so we need to come in

with very strong fundraising numbers. There are several million dollars on the line with this,

and having your name asa contributor to my campaign would be a very great help.”

35. On or about March 21, 2022, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS caused agentsof the Committee to delivera “Path to Victory”

presentation to National Party Committee #1, which falsely represented to National Party

Committee #1 staff members that DEVOLDER SANTOS was loaning the Committee $500,000
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during the first quarter of 2022. Further, the presentation listed as a “Key Factor” DEVOLDER

SANTOS's “[plersonal and political capital that will allow fora fully-funded operation.”

36. When agentsof the Committee inquired, the defendant GEORGE

ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS falsely represented that he was, in fact, makingthe

purported $500,000 loan to the Committee. For example, on or about March 30, 2022, an agent

ofthe Committee texted DEVOLDER SANTOS: “Random: Did you get the wire done for the

Ql loan?” DEVOLDER SANTOS responded: “That's getting done tomorrow and it’s not a

wire, banker check.” However, DEVOLDER SANTOS did not provide the Committee with a

check for the purported $500,000 loan, nordid he wire transfer such funds at that time.

Moreover, at that time, DEVOLDER SANTOS did not have the funds to cover such a loan. In

truth, DEVOLDER SANTOS had less than $8,000 in his personal and business bank accounts.

37. On or about April 13, 2022, the Committee further publicized inaccurate

fundraising total for the Committee for the frst quarter of 2022, relying on the false:

representation by the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS that he had

loaned the Committee $500,000. Specifically, the Committee issued a press release in which it

stated that the Committee would “report roughly $800,000 raised in Q1, a significant sum in

what is likely tobe oneofthe most expensive races in the country.” This statementofthe

fundraising totals of the Committee included the non-existent $500,000 loan purportedly made

by DEVOLDER SANTOS. The press release further reported that DEVOLDER SANTOS had

qualified for the second phaseofthe Program by National Party Committee #1, “a sign of

national [political party's] growing interest andbelief in the competitivenessofthis scat.”

38. On or about April 15, 202, the Committee submitted the April 2022

Quarterly Report to the FEC, with Nancy Marks certifying that she had “examined this Report
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and to the bestof my knowledge and belief it is true, correct and complete.” The April 2022

Quarterly Report to the FEC falsely reported that DEVOLDER SANTOS had loaned the

‘Committee $500,000 on March 31,2022. DEVOLDER SANTOS and Nancy Marks did so for

the purposeof making the Committee appear more financially sound than it was, knowing that

the FEC, National Party Committee #1 and the public would rely on the truth and accuracy of

these reports.

iv. National Party Committee #1 Provides Financial Support to the
Committee:

39. Based, in part, on the misrepresentations made by the defendant GEORGE,

ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS and Nancy Marks about the financial positionofthe

‘Committee in is reports to the FEC, presentations to National Party Committee #1 and public

statements, National Party Committee #1 announced that DEVOLDER SANTOS had qualified

for the third and final phaseof the Program on or about June 14, 2022.

40. Asaresult ofthe defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER

SANTOS’ qualification for the third and final phaseofthe Program, National Party Committee

#1 provided financial and logistical support to the Commitee.

41. For example, on or about September 27, 2022, National Party Committee

#1 and the Committee agreed to split the cost ofa political poll, financial assistance that the

defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS knew to be a benefit derived from his

qualification for the third and final phase the Program.

42. Similarly, qualification for the third and final phase of the Program

entitled the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS to participate in joint

fundraising committees with other qualified members of the Program. On or about September

28,2022, the Committee and another political committee affiliated with DEVOLDER SANTOS
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received wire transfers from a joint fundraising committee for qualified membersofthe Program.

On or about October 18, 2022, the Committee and another political committee affiliated with

DEVOLDER SANTOS received a second round of wire transfers from joint fundraising

committee for qualified membersof the Program.

B. The Credit Card Fraud Scheme

43. As partofthe Credit Card Fraud Scheme, the defendant GEORGE

ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS obtained the personal identity and financial information of

individuals who had contributed to the Committee and then caused their access devices to be

charged repeatedly without authorization for DEVOLDER SANTOS’ direct and indirect

benefit, oftentimes concealing the true sourceof the funds by misappropriating the personal

identity informationof relatives and associates of DEVOLDER SANTOS without their

authorization.

44. For example, on or about December 14, 2021, Contributor #12, an

individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, texted the defendant GEORGE

ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS and another agentof the Committe, providing billing

information for two credit cards belonging to Contributor #12 for the purposeof authorizing a

contribution to the Committee. Thereafter, on or about December 17, 2021, DEVOLDER

SANTOS caused a $5,800 contribution to be made to the Committee using the credit card billing

information provided by Contributor #12. That same day, DEVOLDER SANTOS caused two

other contributions to be made to the Committee or affliated political committees using the

credit card billing information provided byContributor#12.

45. Asaresult, DEVOLDER SANTOS caused approximately $15,800 in

campaign contributions to the Committee or affliated political committees tobe charged to the
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creditcardsof Contributor #12 on or about December 17, 2021. This total exceeded the limits

set by the Election Act for the 2022 election cycle for individual contributions to candidate

committees. Contributor #12 did not knowofor authorize charges exceeding such limits. For

the purposeof masking the true sourceof someofthese funds and thereby circumventing the

Election Act’s limits on the amount and sourcesofmoney that could be contributed to a federal

candidate for elected office, DEVOLDER SANTOS falsely identified the sourceofthe funds for

one of these unauthorized charges to be a relative ofDEVOLDER SANTOS, Person #2, an

individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury. As a result of DEVOLDER SANTOS’s

fraudulent deception, the Committee submitted the Year-End 2021 Report to the FEC on or

about January 31, 2022, which falsely identified Person #2 as the sourceofthe funds for a

$2,400 contribution and a $2,600 contribution, both made on December 17, 2021

46. In the following months, without the knowledge or authorization of

Contributor #12, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS repeatedly used

thecreditcard billing information of Contributor #12 in attempts to make at least $44,800 in

unauthorized charges. DEVOLDER SANTOS attempted to use the credit card billing

informationof Contributor #12 to make contributions to the Committee and to the campaign

committeesofother candidates for elected office in the names of, among others:

(a) DEVOLDER SANTOS himself; (b) Person #2; (¢) Person #3, an individual whose identity is

Known to the Grand Jury; and (d) Person #4, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand

Jury.

47. Onatleast one occasion, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS used the credit card billing information for Contributor #12 to transfer

‘more than $11,000 to DEVOLDER SANTOS’s personal bank account, again without the
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knowledge or authorizationof Contributor #12. On or about August 1, 2022, DEVOLDER

SANTOS used the credit card billing information for Contributor #12 to cause a charge of

$12,000, using the credit card processing account of Company #1. Of that sum, approximately

$11,651.70 was transferred to the bank account of Company #1. That same day, approximately

$11,580 was then transferred from the bank accountofCompany #1 10 the personal bank account

of DEVOLDER SANTOS.

48. In addition to Contributor #12, DEVOLDER SANTOS used the credit

card billing informationofother individuals to contribute to the Committee and to the campaigns

of other candidatesforelected office, al without the knowledge or authorizationofthe

individual cardholders. Again, in an effort to mask the true source ofthe funds and to

circumvent the Election Act's limits on individual contributions, DEVOLDER SANTOS

repeatedly masked those fraudulent transactions by using the namesof ther unwitting

individuals, including individuals who had previously contributed to his campaign and his own

relatives, among others.

C. TheCompany#1FraudScheme

49. As part of the Company #1 Fraud Scheme, the defendant GEORGE

ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS directed Person #1 to solicit contributions to Company #1

from prospective contributors via emails, text messagesandtelephone calls. In furtherance of

those efforts, DEVOLDER SANTOS arranged for the creationofan email address associated

with Company #1 for Person #1, provided Person #1 with the namesand contact information of

prospective contributors and conveyed false information to Person #1 about the nature of

‘Company #1 and the purpose of the contributions, knowing that Person #1 would then

communicate the false information to prospective contributors.
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50. Atthe directionofthe defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER

SANTOS, Person #1 falsely advised prospective contributors, inter ali, that Company #1 was a

Section 501(c)(4) social welfare organizationoran independent expenditure-only committee and

therefore not subject to contribution limits, and that contributions to Company #1 would be spent

on television advertisements and other independent expenditures benefitting DEVOLDER

SANTOS's candidacy for the House. Atthedirection of DEVOLDER SANTOS, Person #1

also provided prospective contributors with instructions for wiring funds to a bank account

maintained by Company #1, as to which DEVOLDER SANTOS was an authorized signatory

(“Company #1 Bank Account’).

SI. Iwas furthera part ofthe scheme to defraud that the defendant GEORGE

ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS sent to prospective contributors one or more text messages

in which he requested that those prospective contributors speak with representatives of Company

#1, indicated that he needed contributionsto Company #1 and falsely represented that such

contributions would be spent on television advertisements independently purchased by Company

#1in support of DEVOLDER SANTOS's candidacy for the House.

52. After receiving emails and text messages from the defendant GEORGE

ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS and Person #1, and in reliance upon the materially false

statements therein, one or more individuals made contributionsto Company #1 in sums

exceeding the limits pertaining to candidate committees.

53. Onorabout September 12,2022, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS falsely advised Person #1 via text message that Company #1 was “a

small C4" that existed “just to help this race” and that there were “no limits” with respect to

contributions. Section 501(c)4) of the Intemal Revenue Coderelatedto tax-exempt social
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welfare organizations. DEVOLDER SANTOS knew that Company #1 was not, in fact,

registered with the Internal Revenue Serviceas a Section S01(c)(4) social welfare organization.

54. Onor about October4, 2022, Person #1,acting atthedirectionof the

defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS and on behalfofCompany #1, sent an

email to Contributor #13, an individual whose identity is known to the Grand Jury. ~ That email

falsely stated, inter alia, that Company #1 was attempting to “raise another $700,000 dollars to

reach our goal of $1.5 million to invest in [DEVOLDER SANTOS’s] race” to compete with the

money “independently” raised for DEVOLDER SANTOS's opponent. Thereafter, on or about

October 20, 2022, Person #1, again acting at the direction of DEVOLDER SANTOS and on

behalfofCompany #1, sent toContributor#13 another email, which falsely stated thata

contribution fromContributor #13 would be spent, at least in part, “to get our advertising up on

TV." On or about October 25, 2022, Person #1, again acting at the direction of DEVOLDER

SANTOS and on behalfofCompany #1, sent to Contributor #13a text message, which again

falsely stated that a contribution from Contributor #13 would be spent, atleast in part, “to

purchase ads supporting George Santos.” On or about October 26, 2022, in reliance upon these

emails and text message, Contributor#13 caused the sumof$25,000 to be wired to Company #1.

55. In addition, on or about October 12, 2022, Person #1, acting at the

directionofthe defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS and onbehalfof

Company #1, sent an email to Contributor #14, an individual whose identity is known to the

Grand Jury. That email falsely stated,interalia, that Company #1 was formed “exclusively” to

aid in electing DEVOLDER SANTOS and that [fhere are no limits for contributors as we are a

501c4 Independent Expenditure committee under federal campaign finance law and do not

coordinate directly with the Santos campaign.” The email to Contributor #14 further stated that
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all funds raised by Company #1 would be spent “directly on supporting George and his election.”

Further, the email to Contributor #14 contained an attachment, which DEVOLDER SANTOS

had previously approved. That attachment described Company #1 as having been “created for

this singular purpose, to support that candidate, George Santos” and represented that Company

#1 was “fully committedto dedicating al its resources to making sure that George Santos is the

next memberof Congress representing NY-03.” On or about October 21, 2022, DEVOLDER

SANTOS sent to Contributor #14 one or more text messages in which DEVOLDER SANTOS

reiterated the need for contributions to Company #1, which he falsely stated would be spent “on

TV" advertisements. That same day, in reliance upon the email and accompanying text

messages, Contributor #14 caused the sum of $25,000 to be wired to Company #1

DEVOLDER SANTOS knew that Company #1 was not, in fact, registered with the FEC as an

independent expenditure-only committee or Super PAC.

56. Shortly afer the contributions from Contributor #13 and Contributor#14

were received by Company #1 in the Company #1 Bank Account, they were transferred into.

bank accounts controlled by the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS,

including the Devolder Santos Bank Account #1 and a second personal bank account maintained

by DEVOLDER SANTOS (“Devolder Santos Bank Account #2°). From there, the funds

received fromContributor#13 andContributor #14 were spent by DEVOLDER SANTOS for

his personal benefit, including to make cash withdrawals, personal purchases of luxury designer

clothing, credit card payments,a car payment, paymentson personal debts and one or more bank

transfers to DEVOLDER SANTOS’s personal associates. Thus, contrary to representations

‘made by DEVOLDER SANTOS and Person #1, who was acting at the directionof DEVOLDER
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SANTOS, these contributions to Company #1 were not spent on television advertisements or

other independent expenditures in support of DEVOLDER SANTOS's candidacy for the House.

IV. The Defendant's Employment-Related Fraudulent Schemes

A. Fraudulent Application for and Receipt of Unemployment Benefits

57. On or about March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic

Security (“CARES”) Act was enacted. In lightof the ongoing health crisis related to the novel

coronavirus, COVID-19, the CARES Act allocated additional unemployment benefits for

eligible individuals. Specifically, the CARES Act established additional unemployment

insurance programs, including the Pandemic Unemployment Assistance program and the Federal

Pandemic Unemployment Compensation program. Both programs were federally funded and

were administered by states, including New York State. Funds from both programs, as well as

from the Federal Emergency Management Agency's Lost Wages Assistance Program, comprised

the benefits fraudulently obtained by the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER

SANTOS in connection with the scheme outlined below.

58. Onorabout June 17, 2020, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS applied to receive unemployment insurance benefits through the New

York State DepartmentofLabor (‘NYS DOL”). In that application, DEVOLDER SANTOS

falsely claimed to have been unemployed since the week of March 22, 2020. Beginning on or

about June 19, 2020, and continuing through on or about April 15, 2021, DEVOLDER SANTOS

certified his continuing eligibility for unemployment benefits on a weekly basis, in cach case:

falsely attesting, inter alia, that he was unemployed, available to take on new work and eligible

for benefits. In truth and in fit, however, beginning on or about February 3, 2020, and

continuing through on or about April 15, 2021, DEVOLDER SANTOS was a Regional Director
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at Investment Firm #1. During that period, with the exceptionofapproximately July 5, 2020

through August 30, 2020, DEVOLDER SANTOS received regular deposits into his personal

bank accounts as part of his Regional Director salaryofapproximately $120,000 per year.

59. For the periodof approximately March 22, 2020 through April 15, 2021,

based on a false application and false weekly certifications to the NYS DOL, the defendant

GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS received approximately $24,744 in

unemployment insurance benefits, which were deposited into Devolder Santos Bank Account #2.

“The benefits received by DEVOLDER SANTOS were fully funded by the United States and a

department and agency thereof; to wit: the United States Departmentofthe Treasury.

B. FalseStatementsinHouseDisclosure Reports

60. Pursuant to the Ethics in Govemment Act of 1978, as a candidate for the

House in 2020 and 2022, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS had a

legal duty to filea Financial Disclosure Statement (“House Disclosures”) at designated times

prior to each of the general elections held on November 3, 2020 and November 8, 2022,

respectively. In eachof those House Disclosures, DEVOLDER SANTOS was required to make

a “full and complete statement” disclosing, inter alia: a) his assets and income, transactions,

liabilities, positions held and arrangements and agreements; (b) “the source, type, and amount or

value of income ... from any source (other than from current employment by the United States

Government)”; and (c) “the source, date, and amountofhonoraria from any source, received” for

“the year of filing and the preceding calendar year.” As a candidate, DEVOLDER SANTOS

was personally required to certify the House Disclosures were “true, complete, and correct o the

bestof my knowledge and belief.” The Instruction Guide for Financial Disclosure Statements

published by the U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Ethics provided that there were
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civil and criminal penalties for knowingly and willfully falsifying a financial disclosure

statement and cited to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.

61. The defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS was

required to make these House Disclosures via an online filing system maintained by the House:

‘Committee on Ethics or pre-printed form, and to certify that the statements made therein were

rue, complete and correct. DEVOLDER SANTOS was required to file the House Disclosures

with the Clerkofthe House, for transmission to the House Committee on Ethics.

62. Onorabout May 11,2020, in connection with the 2020 election for the

House, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS filed two House.

Disclosures (the “2020 House Disclosures”) in which he falsely certified that, during the

reporting period: (a) his only earned income consistedofsalary, commission and bonuses

totaling $55,000 from Company #2, an entity the identityof which is known to the Grand Jury;

and (b) the only compensation exceeding $5,000 he received from a single source in which he

had an ownership interest was an unspecified commission bonus from Company #2.

63. Contrary to these attestations, however, as the defendant GEORGE.

ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS then and there well knew and believed, from approximately

February 1, 2020 through the date upon which he filed the 2020 House Disclosures,

DEVOLDER SANTOS received approximately $25,403 in income from Investment Firm #1,

which he failed to truthfully report as required. Further, DEVOLDER SANTOS knew that he

had received only $27,555 in compensation from Company #2 in 2019.

64. Thereafter, on or about September 6, 2022, in connection with the 2022

election for the House, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS filed a

House Disclosure (the “2022 House Disclosure”), in which he falsely certified that, during the
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reporting period: (a) his eamed income consistedof $750,000 in salary from the Devolder

Organization LLC: (b) his unearned income included dividends from the Devolder Organization

LLC valued at between $1,000,001 and $5,000,000; (c) he had no compensation exceeding

$5,000 from asingle source in which he had an ownership interest; (d) he owned a checking

account with deposits totaling between $100,001 and $250,000; and (¢) he owned a savings

account with deposits totaling between $1,000,001 and $5,000,000.

65. Contrary to these attestations, as the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY

DEVOLDER SANTOS then and there well knew and believed, during the applicable reporting

period, he had not received from the Devolder Organization LLC the reported amounts of salary

or dividends and, during the reporting period, he did not maintain checking or savings accounts

with deposits in the reported amounts. In addition, rom approximately January 2021 through

September 2021, DEVOLDER SANTOS received approximately $28,107 in income from

Investment Firm #1 and approximately $20,304 in unemployment insurance benefits from the

NYS DOL, both of which he failed to truthfully report as required.

COUNT ONE
(Conspiracy to Commit Offenses Against the United States — the Party Program Scheme)

66. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are alleged and

incorporated as iffully set forth in this paragraph.

67. In or about and between December 2021 and November 2022, both dates

being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the

defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, together with others, did knowingly

and intentionally conspire:

(® to knowingly and intentionally devise a scheme and artifice to

defraud andto obtain money and property by meansof one or more materially false and



2

fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, in violationofTitle 18, United States Code,

Section 1343;

(©) to knowingly and wilfully make one or more materially false,

fictitious and fraudulent statements and representations in a matter within the jurisdiction ofthe

FEC,a department and agencyofthe United States Goverment, in violationofTile 18, United

States Code, Section 1001()(2);

(© to knowingly conceal, cover up, falsify and make one or more false

entries ina record and document, and cause others o do so, with the intent 0 impede, obstruct

and influence the investigation and proper administration ofa matter within the jurisdiction of

the FEC, a department and agencyof the United States Government, and in relation to and

contemplationofsuch mater, in violationofTitle 18, United States Code, Section 1519; and

(@ to knowingly and intentionally transfer, possess and use, without

lawful authority. one or more means of identificationofanother person, during and in relation to

felony violations, to wit: wire fraud as charged in Count Two and fale statementsas charged in

Count Four, knowing the means of identification would belong to another person, in violation of

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1028A(a)(1), 1028A(b) and 1028A().

68. In furtheranceofthe conspiracy and to effect its objects, within the Eastern

District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER

SANTOS, also known as “George Santos,” together with others, did commit and cause the

commission of, among others, the following overt acts:

5Nancy Marks referenced in paragraphs 23 and 24.
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December 21,2021 | Text messages between DEVOLDER SANTOS and
Marks referenced in paragraph 25.

Email from Marks to herselfreferenced in paragraph
25.

January 31,2022 | Submission by the Committeeof Year-End 2021
Reportto the FEC referenced in paragraph 27.

March 21,2022 Delivery by agentsof the Committeeof“Path to
Victory” presentation to National Party Committee
#1 referenced in paragraph 35.

March 30,2022 Text messages between DEVOLDER SANTOS and
an agentofthe Committee referenced in paragraph
36.

April 13,2022 Press release issued by the Committee referenced in
paragraph 37.

April 15,2022 Submission by the CommitteeofApril 2022
Quarterly Report to the FEC referenced in paragraph
38.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 3551etseq)

COUNTS TWO AND THREE
(Wire Fraud — the Party Program Scheme)

69. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are realleged and

incorporated as iffully set forth in this paragraph.

70. In or about and between December 2021 and November 2022, both dates

being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the

defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as “George Santos,”

together with others, did knowingly and intentionally devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and

0 obtain money by meansofone or more materially false and fraudulent pretenses,

representations and promises.
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71. On or about the dates set forth below, for the purposeofexecuting such

scheme and artifice, and attempting to do so, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER

SANTOS, also known as “George Santos,” together with others, did transmit and cause to be

transmitted, by meansof wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce, one or more:

writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, as set forth below:

Report to the FEC referenced in paragraph 27.

Quarry Repro th FEC eirensedin prsgaph

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT FOUR
(False Statements — Year-End 2021 Report Submitted 0 the FEC)

72. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are realleged and

incorporated as iffully set fort in this paragraph.

73. On or about January 31, 2022, within the Eastern Districtof New York

and elsewhere, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as

“George Santos,” together with others, in a matter within the jurisdiction ofa department and

agencyof the United States Goverment, to wit: the FEC, did knowingly and wilfully make and

cause to be made one or more materially false, fictitious and fraudulent statements and

representations, to wit: DEVOLDER SANTOS, together with others, caused the Commitee to

submita Report of Receipts and Disbursements o the FEC falsely stating that: x) Contributor

#1 made two contributionsof $2,900 each to the Committee onDecember31, 2021; (b)

Contributor #2 made one contribution of $2,900 to the Committee onDecember 31, 2021; (¢)
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Contributor #3 made two contributionsof $2,900 each to the Committee on December 31,2021;

(@) Contributor #4 made one contributionof $2,900 to the Committee on December 31,2021 (¢)

Contributor #5 made two contributionsof $2,900 each to the Committee on December 16, 2021;

(9) Contributor #6 made two contributions of $2,900 each to the Committee on November 15,

2021: (8) Contributor #7 made two contributionsof $2,900 each to the Committee on December

31,2021; (h) Contributor #8 made two contributionsof $2,900 each to the Committee on

December 31, 2021: () Contributor #9 made two contributionsof$2,900 cach to the Committee

‘on November 3, 2021; j) Contributor #10 made a contribution of $3,900 to the Committee on

October 9, 2021; (K) Contributor #11 made a contribution of $2,900 to the Committee on

December 31,2021; and () Person #2 made a contributionof$2,400 and a contribution of

$2,600 to the Committee, both on December 17, 2021. Contrary to these statements, in truth

and in fact, as DEVOLDER SANTOS then and there well knew and believed, none of these

contributions had been made to the Commitee by the persons reported to be the sourcesofthese

funds.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1001(2)(2), 2 and 3551 et seq)

COUNT FIVE
(Falsificationof a Record or Document— Year-End 2021 Report Submitted to the FEC)

74. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are alleged and

incorporated asiffully set forth in ths paragraph.

75. On or about January 31, 2022, within the Eastern District of New York

and elsewhere, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as

“George Santos.” together with others, did knowingly conceal, cover up, falsify and make one or

more false entries in a record and document, and cause others to do so, with the intent to impede,

obstruct and influence the investigation and proper administration ofa matter within the
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jurisdiction ofa department and agencyof the United States, and in relation to and contemplation

ofsuch matterto wit: DEVOLDER SANTOS, together with others, caused the Committee to

Submita Report of Receipts and Disbursements o the FEC falsely stating that: (3) Contributor

#1 made two contributionsof$2,900 each to the Committee on December 31, 2021; (b)

Contributor #2 made one contributionof $2,900 o the Committee on December 31, 2021 (¢)

Contributor #3 made two contributionsof $2,900 each to the Committee on December 31, 2021;

(d) Contributor #4 made one contributionof $2,900to the Committee on December 31, 2021; (¢)

Contributor #5 made two contributions of $2,900 each to the Committee on December 16, 2021;

( Contributor #6 made two contributionsof$2,900 each to the Committee on November 15,

2021; (g) Contributor #7 made two contributionsof$2,900 each to the Commitee on December

31,2021: (h) Contributor #8 made two contributionsof $2,900 cach to the Committee on

December 31, 2021: (i) Contributor #9 made two contributions of$2,900 each to the Committee

‘on November 3, 2021; (j) Contributor #10 made a contributionof$3,900 to the Committee on

October 9, 2021; (k) Contributor #11 made a contributionof $2,900 to the Commitee on

December 31,2021; and () Person #2 made a contributionof$2,400 and a contribution of

$2,600 to the Committee, both on December 17, 2021. Contrary to these statements, in truth

and in fact, as DEVOLDER SANTOS then and there well knew and believed, noneof these

contributions had been made to the Committee by the persons reported to be the sources of the

funds.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1519, 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT SIX
(Aggravated Identity Theft the Party Program Scheme)

76. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 arc realleged and

incorporated as iffully set forth in this paragraph.
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77. On or about January 31, 2022, within the Eastern Districtof New York

and elsewhere, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as

“George Santos,” together with others, during and in relation to the crimes charged in Counts

“Two and Four, did knowingly and intentionally transfer, possess and use, without lawful

authority, one or more meansof identification ofa person, to wit: the nameofContributor #1,

the nameofContributor #2, the nameof Contributor #3, the name of Contributor #4, the name of

Contributor #5, the name of Contributor #6, the nameof Contributor #7, the nameof Contributor

#8, the nameof Contributor #9, the nameof Contributor #10 and the nameof Contributor #11,

Knowing that the means of identification belonged to said other persons.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1028A()(1), 1028A(b), 1028A(€)(4).

1028A()(S), 2 and 3551 et seq)

COUNT SEVEN
(False Statements — April 2022 Quarterly Report Submitted to the FEC)

78. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are realleged and

incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

79. On or about April 15, 2022, within the Eastern District of New York and

elsewhere, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as “George

Santos,” together with others, in a matter within the jurisdiction ofa department and agency of

the United States Government, o wit: the FEC, did knowingly and willfully make and cause to

be made one or more materially false, fictitious and fraudulent statements and representations, to

wit: DEVOLDER SANTOS caused the Committee to submit a Report of Receipts and

Disbursements to the FEC falsely stating that DEVOLDER SANTOS had loaned the Commitice

$500,000 on March 31,2022. Contrary to these statements, in truth and in fact, as DEVOLDER
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SANTOS then and there well knew and believed, DEVOLDER SANTOS had not loaned the:

Committee $500,000 on March 31, 2022.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1001(a)(2), 2 and 3551etseq)

COUNT EIGHT
(Falsificationof a Record or Document — April 2022 Quarterly Report Submitted to the FEC)

80. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are realleged and

incorporated as if fully set forth in ths paragraph.

81. Onorabout April 15,2022, within the Eastern Districtof New York and

elsewhere, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as “George:

Santos,” together with others, did knowingly conceal, cover up, falsify and make one or more

false entries in record and document, and cause others to do so, with the intent to impede,

obstruct and influence the investigation and proper administration ofa matter within the

jurisdiction ofa department and agencyof the United States, and in relation to and contemplation

of such matter, o wit: DEVOLDER SANTOS, together with others, caused the Committee to

submit a ReportofReceipts and Disbursements o the FEC falsely stating that DEVOLDER

SANTOS had loaned the Committee $500,000 on March 31, 2022. Contrary to these

statements, in truth and in fact, as DEVOLDER SANTOS then and there well knew and

believed, DEVOLDER SANTOS had not loaned the Committee $500,000 on March 31,2022.

(Title 18,United States Code, Sections 1519,2and 3551 et seq)

COUNTNINE
(Access Device Fraud — the Credit Card Fraud Scheme)

82. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are realleged and

incorporated as iffully set forth in this paragraph.
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$3. In or about and between December 2021 and August 2022, both dates

being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern Districtof New York and elsewhere, the

defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as “George Santos.”

together with others, did knowingly and with intent to defraud effect transactions, with one or

more access devices issuedto another person or persons, to receive payment and other things of

Value during a one-year period the aggregate valueofwhich was equal to or greater than $1,000,

in a manner affecting interstate commerce.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1029(a)(5), 1029(c)(1)A)i) and 3551 et

seq)

COUNT TEN
(Aggravated Identity Theft the Credit Card Fraud Scheme)

84. Theallegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are realleged and

incorporated as iffully set forth in this paragraph.

85. Inor about and between December 2021 and August 2022, both dates

being approximate and inclusive, within the Easter District of New York and elsewhere, the

defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as “George Santos,”

together with others, during and in relation to the crime charged in Count Nine, did knowingly

and intentionally transfer, possess and use, without lawful authority, one or more means of

identificationofone or more persons, to wit: the name and access deviceofContributor #12,

knowing that the means of identification belonged to another person.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1028A(2)(1), 1028A(), 1028A(€)(4), 2 and 3551 et seq)
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COUNTS ELEVEN THROUGH FIFTEEN
(Wire Fraud the Company #1 Fraud Scheme)

86. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are realleged and

incorporated as if fully set orth in this paragraph.

87. Inor about and between September 2022 and October 2022, both dates

being approximate and inclusive, within the Easter DistrictofNew York and elsewhere, the

defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as “George Santos.”

together with others, did knowingly and intentionally devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and

to obtain money by means of one or more materially false and fraudulent pretenses,

representations and promises.

88. On or about the dates set forth below, for the purposeofexecuting such

scheme and artifice, and attempting to do so, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER

SANTOS, also known as “George Santos,” did transmit and cause to be transmitted, by means of

wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce, one or more writings, signs, signals,

pictures and sounds, asset forth below:

ELEVEN | October4,2022 | Email onbehalfof Company #1 to Contributor #1
falsely stating that funds received from Contributor #1
would be used in supportof DEVOLDER SANTOS's
candidacy for the House.

TWELVE | October 12,2022 | Email on behalfofCompany#1 to Contributor#2
falsely stating that funds received from Contributor #2
would be used to independently support DEVOLDER
SANTOS's candidacy for the House and that
Company #1 was a Section S01(c)(4) social welfare
organization that could accept limitless contributions.
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THIRTEEN | October 20,2022 | Email onbehalf of Company #1 to Contributor#1
falsely stating that funds received from Contributor #1
would be used, in part, to purchase television
advertisements supporting DEVOLDER SANTOS's
candidacy for the House.

FOURTEEN|October21,2022 | Text message from DEVOLDER SANTOS to
Contributor #2 falsely stating that funds received from
Contributor #2 would be used, in part, to purchase
television advertisements supporting DEVOLDER
SANTOS's candidacy for the House.

FIFTEEN | October 25,2022 | Text message onbehalfof Company #1 to Contributor
#1 falsely stating that funds received from Contributor
#1 would be used, in part, to purchase television
advertisements supporting DEVOLDER SANTOS’s
candidacy for the House.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 2 and 3551etseq.)

COUNTS SIXTEEN THROUGH EIGHTEEN
(Unlawful Monetary Transactions Over $10,000 — the Company #1 Fraud Scheme)

89. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are realleged and

incorporated as if fully set forth in his paragraph.

90. On or about and between October 21, 2022 and October 26, 2022, both

dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Easter District of New York and elsewhere,

the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as “George Santos.”

together with others, did knowingly and intentionally engage in one or more monetary

transactions, in and affecting interstate commerce, in criminally derived property that was ofa

value greater than $10,000, as set forth in the chart below; and that was derived from specified

unlawful activity, o wit: wire fraudascharged in Counts Eleven through Fifteen, in violation of

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section

1957):
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SIXTEEN October21, 2022 On or about October21, 2022, DEVOLDER SANTOS

electronically transferred approximately $25,000
fraudulently obtained from Contributor #2 from

Company #1 Bank Account to Devolder Santos Bank
Account #1.

SEVENTEEN| October 26, 2022 On or about October 26, 2022, DEVOLDER SANTOS

electronically transferred approximately $25,000
fraudulently obtained from Contributor #1 from

Company #1 Bank Account to Devolder Santos Bank

EIGHTEEN | October 26, 2022 On or about October 26, 2022, DEVOLDER SANTOS

electronically transferred approximately $24,000
fraudulently obtained from Contributor#1 from

Devolder Santos Bank Account #2 to Devolder Santos.

Bank Account #1.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1957(a), 1957(b), 2 and 3551etseq.)

(Theft of Public Money Fraudulent Application for and Receipt of UnemploymentBenefits)

91. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are realleged and

incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

92. In or about and between June 2020 and April 2021, both dates being

‘approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant

GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as “George Santos,” did knowingly,

willfully and without lawful authority embezzle, steal, purloin and convert to his own use money

and thingsofvalueofthe United States and a department and agency thereof, to wit: money of

the United States Departmentofthe Treasury, the aggregate value of which exceeded $1,000.
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(Wire Fraud — Fraudulent Application for and Receiptof Unemployment Benefits)

93. Theallegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are realleged and

incorporated as if fully set forth in this paragraph.

94. On or about and between June 19, 2020 and April 15, 2021, both dates

being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern DistrictofNew York and elsewhere, the

defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as “George Santos,” did

knowingly and intentionally devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the NYS DOL, and to obtain

money from the NYS DOL by meansof one or more materially false and fraudulent pretenses,

95. On or about the dates set forth below, for the purpose ofexecuting the

scheme, and attempting to do so, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS,

also knownas “George Santos,” did transmit and cause tobe transmitted, by meansofwire

‘communications in interstate and foreign commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures and

sounds,asset forth below:

TWENTY | January 19, 2021 On or about January 19, 2021, DEVOLDER SANTOS

received $564.00 through interstate wires from the NYS

DOL in New York to Devolder Santos Bank Account #2

in New York, passing through one or more computer
servers located outside New York.

TWENTY-| January 26, 2021 On or about January 26, 2021, DEVOLDER SANTOS

ONE received $564.00 through interstate wires from the NYS.

DOL in New York to Devolder Santos Bank Account #2

servers located outside New York.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 2 and 3551etseq.)
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COUNT TWENTY-TWO
(False Statements — 2020 House Disclosure Reports)

96. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are ralleged and

incorporated asiffully set forth in his paragraph.

97. Onor about May 11, 2020, within the Eastern District of New York and

elsewhere, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as “George

Santos,” in a matter within the jurisdictionofthe legislative branchofthe Government of the

United States, did knowingly and willfully make one or more materially false, fitious and

fraudulent statements and representations, to wit: DEVOLDER SANTOS submitted to the Clerk.

ofthe House, for delivery to the House Committee on Ethics, an amended House Disclosure

falsely stating that, during the applicable reporting period: (a) his only camed income consisted

ofa salary, commission and bonus totaling $55,000 from Company #2; and (b) the only

compensation exceeding $5,000 he received from a single source in which he had an ownership

interest was a commission bonus from Company #2, when in truth and in fact, as DEVOLDER

SANTOS then and there well knew and believed, he had camed $27,555 from Company #2 in

2019 and had received approximately $25,403 in income from Investment Firm #1 during the

same reporting period, which he failed to report as required.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1001(a)(2), (c)(1)and 3551¢tsea)

COUNT TWENTY-THREE
(FalseStatements 2022 House Disclosure Report)

98. The allegations contained in paragraphs one through 65 are realleged and

incorporated asif fully set forth in his paragraph.

99. On or about September 6, 2022, within the Eastern Districtof New York

and elsewhere, the defendant GEORGE ANTHONY DEVOLDER SANTOS, also known as
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“George Santos,” in a matter within the legislative branchof the Governmentofthe United

States, did knowingly and wilfully make one or more materially false, fictious and fraudulent

Statements and representations,to wit: DEVOLDER SANTOS submitted to the Clerkof the

House, for delivery to the House Comittee on Ethics, a House Disclosure falsely stating that, in

the year 2021 and in 2022 up to the fling date: a) his eamed income consisted of $750,000 in

salary from the Devolder Organization LLC; (b) his uncamed income included dividends from

the Devolder Organization LLC valued at between $1,000,001 and $5,000,000; and (¢) he had no

compensation exceeding $5,000 from a single source in which he had an ownership interest.

Further, DEVOLDER SANTOS falsely stated that (d) he owned a checking account with

deposits totaling between $100,001 and $250,000; and (¢) he owned a savings account with

deposits totaling between $1,000,001 and $5,000,000. Contrary to these statements, in truth and

in fact, as DEVOLDER SANTOS then and there well knew and believed, he had not received

from the Devolder Organization LLC the reported amountsofsalary or dividends; he did not

‘maintain checking or savings accounts with deposits in the reported amounts; and he received

approximately $28,107 in income from Investment Firm #1 and approximately $20,304 in

unemployment insurance benefits from the NYS DOL during the same reporting period, all of

which he failed to report as required

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1001(@)(2), (61) and 3551 et seq)

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNTS ONE THROUGH THREE, ELEVEN THROUGH FIFTEEN, AND

NINETEEN THROUGH TWENTY-ONE

100. The United States hereby gives noticetothe defendant that, upon his

convictionofany of the offenses charged in Counts One through Three, Eleven through

Fifteen and Nineteen through Twenty-One, the government will seek forfeiture in accordance
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with Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code,

Section 2461(¢), which require any person convicted of such offenses to forfeit any property, real

or personal, constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained directlyor indirectly as a result of

such offenses.

101. Ifany ofthe above-described forfeitable property, a a resultof any act or

omissionofthe defendant:

(8) cannot be located upon the exerciseofduediligence;

() has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, third party:

(©) has been placed beyond the jurisdictionofthe court;

(@ has been substantially diminished in value; or

() has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided

without difficulty;

itis the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). to

seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendant up to the value of the forfetable property

described in this forfeiture allegation.

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C); Title 21, United States Code,

Section 853(p): Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c))

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNT NINE

102. The United States hereby gives notice to the defendant that, upon his

convictionofthe offense charged in Count Nine, the government will seek forfeiture in

accordance with: (a) Tile 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2)(B), which requires any

person convictedofsuch offense to forfeit any property constituting, or derived from, proceeds

obtained directly or indirectly as a resultof such offense; and (b) Title 18, United States Code,
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Section 1029(c)(1)(C), which requires any person convictedofsuch offense to forfeit any

personal property used or intended to be used to commit the offense.

103. IFany of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or

‘omission of the defendant

(@ cannot be located upon the exerciseofdue diligence;

(b) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

(6) has been placed beyond the jurisdictionofthe court;

(@ has been substantially diminished in value; or

(6) has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided

without difficulty;

itis the intentof the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). as

incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(b)(1) and 1029(6)(2), to seek forfeiture

of any other propertyofthe defendant up to the valueofthe forfeitable property described in this

forfeiture allegation.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a)(2)(B), 982(b)(1), 1029(e)(1)(C)

and 1029(e)(2); Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p))

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNTS SIXTEEN THROUGH EIGHTEEN

104. The United States hereby gives notice o the defendant that, upon his.

convictionofanyof the offenses charged in Counts Sixteen through Eighteen, the

government will seek forfeiture in accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section

982(a)(1), which requires any person convictedof such offenses to forfeit any property, real or

personal, involved in such offenses, or any property traceable to such property.
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105. Ifanyofthe above-described forfeitable property, as a resultofany act or

omissionof the defendant:

(®) cannot be located upon the exerciseofdue diligence;

(b) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, athird party:

(6) has been placed beyond the jurisdictionof the court;

(d) has been substantially diminished in value; or

(e) has been commingled with other property which cannotbedivided

without difficulty;

itis the intentofthe United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as

incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(1). to seek forfeiture of any other

propertyofthe defendant up to the value of the forfeitable property described in this forfeiture

Shi
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a)(1) and 982(b)(1); Title 21, United

States Code, Section 853(p)
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